July 18, 2022

The Honorable Merrick Garland
Attorney General

U.S. Department of Justice

950 Pennsylvania Avenue, N.W.
Washington, D.C. 20530

The Honorable Kristen Clarke
Assistant Attorney General
Civil Rights Division

U.S. Department of Justice

950 Pennsylvania Avenue, N.W.
Washington, D.C. 20530

Dear Attorney General Garland and Assistant Attorney General Clarke:

As organizations committed to safeguarding our democracy and protecting civil rights, we
respectfully request that you investigate the white nationalist group Patriot Front and their recent
activity in Idaho, including for potential violation of 18 USC § 241, 18 USC § 249 and other
statutes. While dozens of the group’s members were arrested last month before they could act on
plans to riot at a Pride event in Coeur d’Alene, Idaho, more must be done to hold the group
accountable and ensure they do not continue to intimidate historically marginalized communities.

L. Background and History of Patriot Front

Patriot Front was founded after the deadly Unite the Right rally in Charlottesville, Virginia in
2017. Its ideology is based on a deeply racist belief system shared by its members — namely, that
their European ancestors conquered America and bequeathed it to them, and no one else.! The
group, whose members routinely chant the Nazi slogan “blood and soil” during demonstrations
across the country, ultimately seeks the establishment of a white ethnostate under the guise of a
“return to the traditions and virtues of our [European] forefathers.”> Multiple leaks of Patriot
Front’s internal written and audio organizing chats document its members’ virulent racism,
antisemitism, and anti-LGBTQ+ animus.?
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While Patriot Front itself was founded in 2017, its leadership has a deeper history of violence.
Patriot Front is a successor organization to Vanguard America, one of the central groups that
marched at Unite the Right, and was found liable for a conspiracy to engage in violence by a
Virginia jury last year.* Indeed, Patriot Front’s founder, Thomas Rousseau, who was one of those
arrested in Coeur d’Alene,’ led members of Vanguard America at Unite the Right and marched
shoulder-to-shoulder with the man who injured 35 people and killed one by driving his car into a
group of peaceful protestors. Today, the group emphasizes secrecy and anonymity and focuses
on spreading its message of hate via propaganda, flyering, vandalism, and masked “flash
marches.”

Our organizations have tracked Patriot Front’s activities for years leading up to the June arrests
of 31 of its members in Coeur d’Alene. Unfortunately, research shows that the group has
escalated its activities to include more potentially illegal conduct over time, engaging in
increasingly egregious campaigns of vandalism, intimidation, and as of the Fourth of July, an
alleged assault.® In the past three years, Patriot Front has “been responsible for the vast majority
of white supremacist propaganda distributed in the United States,”” including dozens of acts of
property damage, defacing public art themed around racial justice and LGTBQ+ inclusion all
over the country.® In 2021, Patriot Front posted 4,894 racist flyers across 43 states, up from
3,862 racist flyers posted in 2020, according to the Map of White Supremacist Flyering
maintained by the Southern Poverty Law Center.” Without accountability, these acts of
vandalism will continue to terrorize communities and chip away at the foundation of our
democracy.

Leaked chats from within the organization have provided additional evidence of coordination
around this campaign of vandalism, showing that members are required to publicly place a
certain number of Patriot Front stickers and stencils — purchased from the organization’s
leadership — in order to remain members in good standing, and that many of the more egregious
examples of vandalism were greenlit by regional or national leadership.!? Indeed, as Rousseau
has explained, this kind of “activism” (i.e. vandalism), is required for membership in the group.
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If members fail to engage in this type of frequently illegal behavior, Rousseau has made clear
they risk expulsion.!!

Within Patriot Front's bigoted worldview, there are clear links between their campaigns of
vandalism against public art addressing racial justice, and their attempts to disrupt Pride events,
such as Coeur d’Alene’s Pride in the Park last month. In addition to art centering Black victims
of police brutality and Black historical figures, as well as art belonging to community-based
organizations that represent communities of color, the public art defaced by Patriot Front
includes rainbow murals celebrating the LGBTQ+ community. Since 2020, Patriot Front has
destroyed at least 32 public artworks and memorials across the U.S., including a memorial
created to the victims of the Pulse nightclub shooting in Orlando.!? This reflects the overarching
bigotry of a white nationalist organization that strives towards the goal of turning the United
States of America into a white ethnostate — a goal that requires and promotes violence toward
people of color as well as anyone who does not adhere to the rigid gender roles promoted by
white nationalism. Patriot Front’s continued escalation presents a direct threat to historically
marginalized communities across the country and to our democratic institutions, as clearly
demonstrated by the threats and harassment experienced by Coeur d’Alene’s elected officials and
law enforcement in the wake of their actions to hold Patriot Front accountable.!?

Despite the evidence against Patriot Front, very few jurisdictions have sought to hold members
of Patriot Front accountable (whether civilly or criminally) for their racially motivated and
bigoted acts of vandalism and intimidation. This has created an atmosphere of impunity in which
Patriot Front has continued to escalate its activities, allegedly leading to a coordinated plot to riot
against Coeur d’Alene Pride in the Park. While the Coeur d’Alene law enforcement intervention
was an important step that prevented potential violence, the charges thus far against Patriot Front
leadership and members amount to a slap on the wrist, and do not address the negative individual
and community impact they are having nor are they sufficient to deter similar activity in the
future. The thwarted riot came after a months-long campaign from white nationalists targeting
the North Idaho LGBTQ+ Pride event, the organization and individuals organizing the parade,
and its sponsors.

In fact, despite the group’s setback in Coeur d’Alene, it continues to engage in propaganda
campaigns, hanging banners over highways in four locations in Washington in recent weeks.
And, on the Fourth of July, an estimated 100 members of Patriot Front marched in Boston,
allegedly committing an assault against a Black man who attempted to film their activities.
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According to the alleged victim, members of the group knocked him down, hit, and kicked him,
resulting in lacerations.!*

IIL. Action by the Department of Justice is Critical to Holding Patriot Front Accountable

Given the absence of a robust legal response by local jurisdictions, and the understandable fear
that communities experience when it comes to pursuing civil legal remedies against white
supremacist individuals and groups, it is critical the Department of Justice launch a
comprehensive investigation. This is particularly true at a time when Patriot Front is becoming
increasingly emboldened and coordinating its activity at a national level, targeting specific
locations across the country — the Department of Justice may indeed be the only entity able to
address these concerns effectively.

As you know, 18 USC § 241 (Conspiracy Against Rights), makes it unlawful for “two or more
persons [to] conspire to injure, oppress, threaten, or intimidate any person in any State... in the
free exercise or enjoyment of any right or privilege secured to him by the Constitution or laws of
the United States, or because of his having so exercised the same.” Patriot Front’s actions in
Coeur d’Alene raise serious concerns that Patriot Front members conspired to oppress and
intimidate members of the LGBTQ+ community and others gathering in a place of public
accommodation to exercise their First Amendment rights to celebrate Pride. Numerous facts
indicate the intimidating nature of the Patriot Front members in Coeur d’Alene. Prior to the
arrests, a concerned resident of the town called police to report a large group of men (Patriot
Front members) who “looked like a little army” getting inside a U-Haul truck.!> When the truck
was pulled over by state and local enforcement approximately ten minutes later, police found 31
individuals armed with “shields, shin guards, and other riot gear ... including at least one smoke
grenade.”!¢ Police also noted that several men came prepared with helmets, loudspeakers, and
long metal poles.!” All of this is evidence of action intended to “injure, oppress, threaten, or
intimidate.” The fact that the men were masked in white balaclavas so that they were not
immediately identifiable only underscores this conclusion.!®

The conspiratorial nature of the activity is also clear. At the scene, police seized “paperwork”
that, according to Coeur d’Alene Police Chief Lee White, detailed an extensive operations plan
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targeting several areas downtown, not just the park.!® Subsequent reporting and court documents
alleged that the document outlined specific locations, checkpoints, “drill times,” “prep times,”
“observation windows” and “GPS coordinates for a drop point with two backup plans,” and also
included the intention to deploy smoke grenades.?’ The group would form a column outside the
Pride event in City Park and proceed inward, “until barriers to approach are met.”! The group’s
outlined exit strategy was to be implemented “once an appropriate amount of time and
confrontational dynamic has been established.”?? This is precisely the type of “activism” that is
required for membership in the group and must be approved by Patriot Front’s leadership.

In addition, the second clause of 18 USC § 241 makes it unlawful for “two or more persons [to]
go in disguise on the highway, or on the premises of another, with intent to prevent or hinder his
free exercise or enjoyment of any right or privilege so secured.” Again, an investigation under
this provision is warranted: there were more than two members of Patriot Front masked in white
balaclavas with documented plans to interfere with the civil rights of those attending the Pride
event.?

We believe the Patriot Front’s actions also warrant investigation for a potential violation of 18
USC § 249 (Matthew Shepard and James Byrd, Jr. Hate Crimes Prevention Act). This statute
makes it unlawful for any person to “willfully cause[ ] bodily injury to any person or, through the
use of fire, a firearm, a dangerous weapon, or an explosive or incendiary device, [or] attempt][ ]
to cause bodily injury to any person, because of the actual or perceived religion, national origin,
gender, sexual orientation, gender identity, or disability of any person,” where the crime affected
interstate or foreign commerce or occurred within federal special maritime and territorial
jurisdiction. Here, an investigation is warranted as to whether Patriot Front members were
planning to attempt to cause bodily injury to members of the LGBTQ+ community and/or
counter-protesters during the Idaho Pride event and during the Fourth of July demonstration in
Boston — particularly where Patriot Front members were armed with dangerous weapons at both
events, and where participants traveled from across the country to attend these events.?*

Finally, we urge you to provide support and share investigative information with state Attorneys
General and local prosecutors, who may be able to prosecute Patriot Front under state laws,
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including state prohibitions on paramilitary activity,?® state civil rights laws, and state
equivalents to the federal civil conspiracy and hate crime laws discussed above.

The need for federal intervention is both clear and urgent. After all, Patriot Front’s coordinated
plan to disrupt Pride in the Park was only thwarted because a concerned community member
alerted local law enforcement about a “little army” of masked men. In no small way, Coeur
d’Alene was very lucky. But, as Patriot Front continues to organize and agitate, the next city
targeted by their menace and vandalism might not be.

In a recent press release, the North Idaho Pride Alliance reminded local stakeholders and the
general public that “the disinformation and hateful rhetoric used to target us are ongoing, and we
remain vigilant.”?¢ We urge you to also remain vigilant and to swiftly and thoroughly investigate
Patriot Front and, should the evidence warrant, prosecute the group and its members to the fullest
extent of the law. We would appreciate a response by August 18, 2022.

You can reach our office by contacting _, Associate Director of the James Byrd
Jr. Center to Stop Hate at the Lawyers’ Committee for Civil Rights, at _ or
_ Momentum Program Director at Western States Center, at

Sincerely,

Lawyers’ Committee for Civil Rights Under Law
Western States Center

North Idaho Pride Alliance

Anti-Defamation League

Southern Poverty Law Center

Center for Disability Rights

Global Project Against Hate and Extremism
Human Rights First

Institute for Constitutional Advocacy and Protection
Integrity First for America

Japanese American Citizens League

Lawyers for Civil Rights

Matthew Shepard Foundation

Muslim Advocates

National Council of Jewish Women

Not In Our Town

The Sikh Coalition
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C.C

Christopher Wray, Director, Federal Bureau of Investigation

Matthew Olsen, Assistant Attorney General for the National Security Division
Joshua D. Hurwit, United States Attorney for the District of Idaho

Dick Durbin, Chair, United States Senate Committee on the Judiciary

Jerrold Nadler, Chair, United States House Committee on the Judiciary



